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NAME OF PLACE:  Jewish Guild War Memorial
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Photograph:  Catharina JM Bruwer.

Above:  View of the Jewish Guild War Memorial on the corner of 
Bree and Von Brandis Streets.  (CJMB)
Previous/alternative name/s

:  Jewish Guild Building





:  






:  

LOCATION:
Street


:  corner Bree and Von Brandis
Street number

:  260 Bree



:  (260 Bree; 83, 85 Von Brandis)

Stand Number

:  1281, 1282

Previous Stand Number:  1031, 1032
Block number

:  AT
Suburb


:  Johannesburg
GIS reference

:  

ZONING:
Current use/s

:  

Previous use/s

:  public
(CJMB)
DESCRIPTION OF PLACE:  

Height



:  

Levels above street level
:  four; plus three mezzanine floors; plus lift motor room and turret
Levels below street level
:  one
On-site parking


:  no
This magnificent building was designed by one of Johannesburg’s most prominent architects and leading citizens ‘Morrie’ Harris in a true Edwardian style.  This included elaborate brick work to the façades, a superb turret, pilasters and balconies.  The building today is neglected and dishonoured with paint.

(CJMB)
See electronic version of Survey Report for copies of the original building plans.

CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS: 

Foundation:
reinforced concrete
External walls:
brick, Vereeniging best pressed
Internal walls:
brick, Vereeniging best pressed
Mortar:
cement composite
Damp course:
“Rok” or equivalent
Roof:
reinforced concrete and Vereeniging plain tiles to turret roof and street balconies
Windows:
timber frame
Floor:

Basement:
reinforced concrete
Other:
Second floor with wood over concrete; stage with suspended floor
Drainage

Sewage drains:
stoneware
Soil pipes:
cast iron
Waste pipes:
cast iron
Ventilation shafts:
cast iron
The original spaces in the building included the following:
Basement
Assembly Hall; Billiard Room with six tables.

Ground floor
three shops, Woman’s Cloak Room; ‘escape way’ adjacent to the Woman’s Cloak Room; Guild Entry Hall with five memorial panels (are these plaques extant?); Lounge; Committee Room; Library; Waiting and Ante Hall and stairs

First floor
Kitchen; Service Rooms; Dining and general Club Room; Balconies

Mezzanine floor
a Chair Store between First and Second floor beneath the stage

Second floor
Concert and Assembly Hall with columns and Balcony, this Hall provided seating to 344 people; suspended wood floor stage; Foyer; Stair Hall; Female Artist’s and Male Artist’s Changing Rooms to mezzanines
Third floor
Caretaker’s flat and office

(CJMB)
SITE FEATURES:

ALTERATIONS:
The corner turret was removed and an additional storey added to the building.  (CJMB)
Various alteration and deviation plans are available.  (CJMB)
INTEGRITY:

The original turret to the corner of the building was removed when additional storeys were added.  This ruined the fine proportions of the building.  The most degrading action was the painting of the exterior walls.  The windows to Bree Street were painted and the building appears ghost-like.  (CJMB)
INSCRIPTION:
ARCHITECT:

M. J. Harris.
(Address:  National Mutual Buildings, Johannesburg.)
Morris (Morrie) Jacob Harris (1 Jan 1875 - 15 Oct 1950). Harris was born in London, his father, Mark Loius Harris, was a Rabbi and Morris was educated in Sutherland, County Durham, England. The family came to settle in Kimberley in 1889, moving later to the Witwatersrand where Rabbi Harris was the first Rabbi and a pioneer minister on the Rand. Morris Harris served articles with WH MILES in Kimberley. Shortly after Miles's death in 1893 he opened his own practice in Kimberley.  The outbreak of the Anglo Boer War led Harris to move to Mafeking where he was practising by 1901, holding the position of Municipal Surveyor of Mafeking from 1901 until 1905; during this time he acted as supervising architect for BAKER & MASEY in the execution of the Seige Memorial Church at Mafeking and as supervising architect for ROGERS & ROSS of Kimberley in the execution of Mafeking Town Hall and of the Wesleyan church, Mafeking. Harris himself designed several mission churches in Bechuanaland about this time, so far these have not been identified. In 1905 he moved to Johannesburg where he set up practice as an architect, his first major commission being the design of the great Lion synagogue in Doornfontein (1905). Harris was an examiner in architectural practice at the Transvaal University College, Johannesburg from 1905 until 1912.  More of his work at this time is not known, most of it appearing to be private houses. In 1913 Morris acted as the assessor of the competition for the design of the Presbyterian Cchurch in Boksburg; he was married in the same year to May Cohen.  Morris was elected the president of the Transvaal Institute of Architects for 1918/1919 and councillor for the Judith's Paarl Ward, Doornfontein. His keen interest in municipal and civic affairs had matured by 1918 and it was he who was largely responsible for establishing a free municipal library in Johannesburg in 1924, he being a member of the Public Library Administration from 1923 to 1924 during his period as mayor of Johannesburg (1923 1924.) Morris returned to practice at the end of his term of office in March 1924, entering into partnership with WJ SLOAN (cf HARRIS & SLOAN), which was dissolved in September 1924 by mutual consent. His involvement with public life caused him to be among the delegates chosen to present the Architects and Quantity Surveyors (Private) Act before Parliament in 1927. In 1928 Harris entered into partnership or associateship with EMLEY & WILLIAMSON in Johannesburg; not much is known about this association. Harris founded (n.d.) the Johannesburg Jewish Guild and was its president for many years. He died in Johannesburg, his address at the time being 1 Victoria Avenue, Parktown. Mem Soc Archts (Lon) SA branch; Pres Soc Archts (Lon) SA branch, 1912 13; Pres ATA 1918/19; ISAA 1927’…
(Architects In South Africa 1780 – 1940; Draft manuscript, J Walker & G M van der Waal, 1992, HSRC, Pretoria.)

BUILDER:

CONSTRUCTION DATE:

Date on plans
:  plans drawn from March 1922 to 1925
Approval of plans
:  original plans approved 3 May 1922
Commenced
:  27 March 1922

Foundations
:  29 April 1922

Drains commenced
:  12 April 1922

Drains test
:  10 October 1925

Drains completed
:  5 March 1926

Corner Stone
:  8 November 1922

Completion date
:  5 March 1926
Inaugurated
:  24 February 1926
(CJMB)
BUILDING STYLE:

Edwardian (1900 to 1914).  1920s.
BUILDING TYPE:

This is a shop to street and office building.  (CJMB)
ENVIRONMENT:

The area surrounding the building is neglected and forgotten by the owners and the fathers of the city.  This neglected building impacts negatively on the image of the City of Johannesburg as it is in the vicinity of the Johannesburg Supreme Court, which receives regular media attention.  (CJMB)
CONDITION:

This is a ‘sad’ building as its magnificent brickwork is painted and the rest of the building screams of neglect.  (CJMB)
URGENT ACTION:

The owners should be requested not to paint the brickwork of the building again.  The owners should also be informed not to alter the exterior of the building in any way as this is a 60 year old building and formal approval is required from the responsible heritage resources authority for any proposed changes to the building, including cosmetic repairs.  (CJMB)
SAHRA RECORD REGARDING ALTERATIONS, RENOVATIONS, RESTORATION:  

PROTECTION STATUS:  (under National Heritage Resources Act, 1999)

General protection:
Section 34(1) structure/s 

Formal protection:
provincial heritage site

national heritage site

provisional protection

heritage area

listed in provincial heritage

resources register

Relevant Gazette Notice:  

Gazette description:

FORMER PROTECTION STATUS: (under National Monuments Act, 1969)

NOTES:  

DEEDS INFORMATION: 

Original ownership:
Jewish Guild War Memorial Hall

Stand No. 1281

Original ownership:
Charlie Lurie’s Prop Inv (Pty) Ltd.

Registration Date:
1971-08-02

Document:

T12398/1971

Amount:



Stand No. 1282

Original ownership:
Charlie Lurie’s Prop Inv (Pty) Ltd.

Registration Date:
1971-08-02

Document:

T12398/1971

Amount:



PRE-HISTORY OF SITE:

HISTORY:

“…mention should be made of some monuments in honour of those killed in the First World War.  In the city centre these memorials range from sculptured monuments to a building such as the Jewish Guild War Memorial (1925-6), 260 Bree Street.”

(Van Der Waal, G-M.: From Mining Camp to Metropolis…)
GENERAL NOTES:

Estimated cost of building
:  £25 000.00
Estimated cost of drainage
:  £300.00
Accommodation approved
:  two ‘Europeans’

Three ‘Natives’

Valuation at completion

:  £22 580.00
Occupied


:  yes Ground floor
(CJMB)
The Jewish Guild letterhead included the following:

JEWISH GUILD.

Founded 1897
(Incorporated)
THE OBJECTS OF THE GUILD ARE:

	To encourage intellectual and artistic pursuits.  To encourage thought upon Jewish questions.  To provide a centre of assemblage for Social intercourse.
	
	To propagate, maintain, and foster amongst its members, on non party lines, the knowledge of, and regard for, the privileges, rights, obligations and duties of citizens of South African: to assist in the maintenance and protection of the status and position of the Jewish Citizens of this country and to promote, further and cultivate the sentiment and spirit of mutual understanding, accord and goodwill between them and their fellow citizens.
	
	To maintain, encourage and cultivate amongst its members the knowledge of, and love for, the religion, ideas, traditions and principles of Judaism.


PREVIOUS TENANT/S:

260a Bree - Robin Robes (outfitters).

260b Bree – Radio Tea Room.

83 Von Brandis – Johannesburg Coronation Dental Infirmary.

85 Von Brandis – Miltons Opticians.

British Linens (Pty) Ltd. (“trousseau linens…”).

Star Jewelers (“silverware, glass and china…”).

Jewish Guild (Inc.) “Social Club and War Memorial Hall”.

(The Rand-Pretoria Directory 1954 (Comprising Complete Alphabetical And Trades Directories of Johannesburg, Pretoria And Reef Towns), Cape Times Limited, Cape Town, 1954.)

CURRENT TENANT/S:
Riggs – Man’s Shop

Street Bass – Music in your face

SOURCES:

Published Sources

The Rand-Pretoria Directory 1954 (Comprising Complete Alphabetical And Trades Directories of Johannesburg, Pretoria And Reef Towns), Cape Times Limited, Cape Town, 1954.

Van Der Waal, G-M.: From Mining Camp to Metropolis, The buildings of Johannesburg 1886-1940, Chris Van Rensburg Publications, Johannesburg, 1987.

Unpublished Sources

Architects In South Africa 1780 – 1940; Draft manuscript, J Walker & G M van der Waal, 1992, HSRC, Pretoria.

Johannesburg Building, Space & Urban Feature Classification, 1998: Inner City - Metropolitan Planning, Johannesburg Metropolitan Council (Cool Factory).

Plans records of surveyed buildings, Marshallstown and City of Johannesburg: Archives, Building Control, Development Management, City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality.

Rand Township Registry Johannesburg.

ASSESSMENT OF CULTURAL SIGNIFICANCE:  

Historic Value:

         
Associated with historic person, group or organisation


          
Associated with historic event or activity

Architectural/Aesthetic value:


         
Important example of building type

         
Important example of a style or period

         
Fine details, workmanship or aesthetics

         
Work of a major architect or builder

Social/Spiritual/Linguistic value:


         
Associated with social, spiritual, linguistic, economic or political activity


         
Illustrates an historical period

Scientific/Technological value:

Example of industrial, technical or engineering development/achievement

 

        
New, rare or experimental building techniques

RECORDED BY:  


Heritage Resources Management team Johann J Bruwer and Alezea Bruwer.

And Catharina JM Bruwer.

Photographs (unless otherwise indicated) by Johann J Bruwer and Alezea Bruwer.
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